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This book is dedicated with love to the memory of Mindy Branstetter, companion on a road paved with books.
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Foreword

Aleister Crowley in Paris is a book that opens new vistas. Reader, be warned: it is a book that whets the appetite for more and invites further research. It is also an open-ended book. Like nobody else, Tobias Churton knows how to assess Aleister Crowley’s thought in all its ambiguity, bringing new perspectives to the history of his time. Churton evokes the transformative power of magick and art, as envisioned by Crowley around the turn of the century, in a new age in which the magic tradition, too, assumed new forms in reaction to a dominant technological rationality. Angels and demons or electromagnetic fields and gamma rays: they were two sides of one and the same invisible cosmic energy.

Aleister Crowley spent a considerable part of his life in Paris, though at intervals. He was shaped by the city when he visited it in 1899, convinced that he was the incarnation of Éliphas Lévi, the French innovator of the occult sciences. In addition, he strongly identified with Baudelaire and translated the first part of Les paradis artificiels (1860) as The Poem of Hashish. Tradition and renewal: Il faut être absolument moderne!

As the Order was also open to women, absolutely modern was also the Paris lodge of the Golden Dawn, into which Crowley was initiated. Its founder, S. L. MacGregor Mathers, leaned on the spiritual feminism of Anna Kingsford, which may also explain the fascination for the Egyptian goddess Isis. Mathers’s wife, Moina Bergson, decorated the temple with symbolistic representations. Having studied at the Slade School of Art, she continued her studies at the Académie Colarossi in 
Montparnasse, a private art academy that admitted women. The female art students were even permitted to paint from the nude male model. Many young English women attended this academy or the Académie Julian, a similar institution. It was an irresistible artistic milieu for the homme à femmes Aleister Crowley.

Tobias Churton offers an engrossing picture of some of the women in these so far hardly explored English enclaves as well as the psychology of English girls of a certain standing and a strict upbringing who, guided by a female chaperone, took their first artistic steps in libertine Paris. Naturally they are situated in Crowley’s direct environment, though the networks of these often less-well-known women certainly stretched to the leading figures of the Paris avant-garde. Aleister Crowley in Paris provides numerous opportunities for the kind of art-historical research that is nowadays trending. The book highlights not only female artists but also, above all, forgotten women who were active as intermediaries in a male-dominated art world and as a result received the recognition they deserved only later. In Crowley’s circle of female friends and lovers there is the painter and poet Mina Loy, who exhibited at the Salon d’Automne in 1905 and subsequently joined the Italian futurists. In Florence in 1914 she wrote her “Feminist Manifesto,” which was only published long after her death. Sculptor Kathleen Bruce was a student of Rodin, but nowadays she is better known as the widow of Antarctic explorer Robert Falcon Scott. Nina Olivier, who, according to Crowley in his Confessions “I loved and loved so well and sang so passionately,” was only a few years ago identified by Crowley specialist William Breeze as “Nina de Montparnasse,” or Eugénie Auzias, friend and future wife of the collector and art critic Leo Stein, elder brother of the famous Gertrude. With Nina and the Steins, Crowley moved in the inner circle of the French avant-garde.

Crowley admired Rodin. He met the artist through Kathleen Bruce and Stephen Haweis, Mina Loy’s husband, who photographed Rodin’s work. He passionately defended Rodin’s sculpture of Balzac, which had been dismissed by critics in 1898 as too rough, too unfinished, and totally unlike Balzac himself. Crowley for his part saw in the statue the expression of the creative will, a manifestation of the power in nature. Was not this what art and magick were all about? Not to imitate nature but to evoke its energy and so live the life inspired? The alchemical imperative to “fix the volatile” was the blueprint for every creative act. However expressed, it represented the incarnation of the mind, force, or will: the power of Aiwass, who had dictated The Book of the Law in Cairo in 1904. As in every creative act, this revelation, too, was mediated by a woman, Crowley’s then wife, Rose Kelly.

Aleister Crowley in Paris  is a vibrantly written, evocative book, as we have come to expect of Tobias Churton. He probes deep into the distortions of the Confessions and once again shifts the boundaries of accepted interpretations and idées reçues. As such, this book is an expression of the creative will.

FRANK VAN LAMOEN

FRANK VAN LAMOEN is a researcher and assistant curator of Visual Arts at the Stedelijk Museum Amsterdam. Coauthor (with Geurt Imanse) of Russian Avant-Garde; The Khardzhiev Collection, he has published articles on alchemy and Hermetic philosophy and has been a principal contributor to more than thirty years of prestigious publications of the Bibliotheca Philosophica Hermetica in Amsterdam.



ONE
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Sir Aleister Crowley Will Be Expelled from France Tomorrow

Ninety-three years ago . . . April 1929. Despite disarmament in Germany, a sporadically peaceful world still has its dangers; some emerge from unpredictable quarters.

In mid-April, following a deadly smallpox epidemic in London, the British government, after initial protest, accepts French demands that travelers from Britain be vaccinated. Weeks later, 100 miles north of London, Birmingham experiences an outbreak of “great parrot fever.” Transmitted via a bacterial species in South American birds dormant until the birds are caged or frightened, their importation as pets triggers a pandemic. The psittacosis pandemic will afflict nearly a thousand people worldwide with up to three weeks of persistent coughing, headaches, insomnia, chronic fatigue, fever, or pneumonia. More unfortunate sufferers experience delirium and semiconsciousness followed by protracted recovery periods; 15 percent of infected victims die.

A Turkish delegation, meanwhile, submits radical disarmament proposals to the Geneva-based League of Nations disarmament commission as American-directed negotiations to reschedule the Allies’ imposed war debt responds to a stricken Germany’s (now) three million unemployed. Hitler’s rising Nazi Party (NSDAP) opposes the American plan; Hitler wants revenge and rearmament, not accommodation.

In China, Nationalist republican leader Chiang Kai-shek imposes martial law following mutiny in his army, while in the Soviet Union, Stalin arrests hundreds of Leon Trotsky’s supporters. Paris rejects Trotsky’s asylum plea as Red Army units enter China in retaliation for Chinese aggression against Soviet consulates. In Italy, dictator Mussolini claims his single-party fascisti government has secured 99 percent of votes in a general election. Across the Atlantic, newly inaugurated President Hoover sends warplanes to the Mexico-Arizona border after American troops suffer cross fire between Mexico’s Catholic rebels and federal forces in Sonora.

Plus ça change, plus c’est la même chose . . .

But wait! Something different . . .

On Tuesday, April 16, 1929, stark beneath an account of German Reichsbank president Dr. Hjalmar Schacht’s “conditional acceptance” at the Hotel Georges V of the American plan for Germany’s war reparations debt, the Paris-Midi newspaper informs Parisians that

SIR ALEISTER CROWLEY WILL BE EXPELLED FROM FRANCE TOMORROW
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It’s the epilogue of a curious tale of German espionage in the United States during the war
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That’s decided. Next Wednesday they’re expelling Sir Aleister Crowley. One of the most picturesque and mysterious figures of the contemporary international landscape, this English baronet, who lives in Paris’s avenue Suffren, is, in effect, the world’s most celebrated mage (you know, the famous Master Therion). He’s crossed China on foot, he’s tried and almost succeeded in conquering the Himalayas; he’s been received in Tibet by sacred lamas American newspapers reproach him for having burnt women alive and having drunk the blood of young infants. This, Sir Aleister Crowley denies. His native government reproaches him only for having been, during the war, one of Germany’s most active agents in America, and the French police reproach him for his intimate relations with a too celebrated child of Spain and several other chaps. This, Sir Aleister Crowley disputes. For him, Magic alone is important.

—She raises the soul above these petty contingencies, he asserts.
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Fig. 1.1. Parisi-Midi, Tuesday, April 16, 1929; Crowley headline, below center.
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The baronet, to defend himself told us . . .
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One of us has visited Sir Aleister Crowley. Bedridden with an infirmity, our last interview was yesterday. An extraordinary figure emerges from the white sheets. The height of his face is that of an Asiatic illuminate. The eyes jump from their sockets. The bulk of the figure is of childlike softness, with a tender feminine mouth.

—They want to expel me. I protest. Besides, I am ill, very ill. They’d have to transport me. . . . They’ve already seen out my fiancée—a Nicaraguan divorced from a Frenchman—Mme Ferrari de Miramar, as well as my secretary, Israel Regardie, a twenty-one-year-old American, and already a master of Kabbalah. . . .

—What are they accusing you of?

—of being a spy. They understand nothing. Yes, to be exact, I very actively participated in German counterespionage in America during the war, but I was in accord with the Naval Intelligence Service of my own country! I’ve counterbalanced, by my influence, the formidable German organization that hit the USA from 1914 to 1917. I was myself close to the Germans, and particularly encouraged the ambassador Von Bernsdorf to support an Irish revolution. In doing so I was obliged to publish violent articles against my own country in The Fatherland. That’s how on 3 January 1917 I suggested England become a German colony. That’s also how I wrote in your language, the “Call to French good sense” where I proclaimed that England toyed with her ally and toiled to extract the maximum profit from the conflagration.*1

—I remember. This article had a formidable resonance. You’ve counselled a separate peace to us. Weren’t you going a bit far in . . . your game? And a bit strong?

—I had to do it to gain the confidence of the Germans. I had my goal. . . .
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America-Germany “Intelligence Service”
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—this goal?

—to get German submarines to sink the still neutral American ships.

—What! I don’t understand!

—Yes, by this means the Americans were obliged to enter the war on our side.†2 I was, besides, always in accord with Captain Gaunt, chief of the [British Naval] Intelligence service in America. Today, Gaunt is lord-admiral and I have telegraphed him to send me a letter to exonerate me with respect to your government.

—You’ve lived in France for how long?

—For twenty-six years. But I traveled. Lived in Paris without interruption for the past six years.

—There must have been a new factor then, recently?

—Not at all. It was promised that no more would any sanction be held against me over facts of war. But there’ve been stories of private life and incomprehension of my magical rites. That’s another story. . . .

Because Sir Aleister Crowley has a lot more surprising things to recount, we’ve given him leave to speak; we leave to him responsibility for his affirmations.

Appearing at midday, France’s first news concerning Crowley’s “expulsion” was written by Pierre Lazareff and Claude Dhérelle.*3 A follow-up appeared on Paris-Midi’s front page two days later:

BLACK MAGIC SOON MENTIONED WHEN SPEAKING OF
CROWLEY!

Under the vigilant eye of the Sûreté générale, Sir Aleister Crowley took the 11:30 train to Brussels, yesterday morning.

On the platform at the Gare du Nord, a very gay Sir Aleister Crowley, supported by his inseparable English nurse, speaks to us.

—I leave because I’m obliged to, but I shall return. I go to Brussels to retrieve my fiancée, Mlle Ferrari de Miramar—whom I shall doubtless marry over there—and my secretary Regardie who’s waiting for me But I wish to return to France to ascertain on what basis they accuse me, and to obtain openly information used against me so I can exonerate myself. Because it’s certain some tales told by an Austrian-turned-American journalist in Paris—and who was in my employ—have provided the basis for this unjustified decision. . . .

As the noble Englishman cites to us the name of this well-known colleague [Carl de Vidal Hunt] in connection with [Alexander] Zubkoff, the kaiser’s famous brother-in-law,*4 who lodged with him when Zubkoff recently lived in Paris, the train pulled out.

But we are not leaving it there. Our enquiries led us also to Auteuil, to a calm, often deserted street where for a long time the mage possessed a bachelor flat. And from the lips of his best companions, of his neighbors, we have learnt that Sir Aleister Crowley did not respect all of the obligations of theosophical rites: he was a joyous lover of life who loved well and drank much, who ate spicy food and enjoyed pretty women.

—about black magic! said one of his most faithful commensals to us, American papers asserting that are very naïve! Crowley created books, paintings, cinema scenarios, and even some poems so légère that someone has burnt them, in London, in a public place!

—And the black masses?

—Crowley, I told you, loved pretty women and wasn’t against the company of young chaps. The Bois [de Boulogne] was close, the opportunities numerous. But black masses! Crowley, whilst he’d reported on strange things during his travels to India and China, always preserved the manners of the most civilized European.

Our police, for their part, confirm it:

—The Aleister Crowley affair? Simply an affair of customs. Indeed!

A glance to the article’s left records an unusual stroke of Crowleyan luck, or fate, if you will, regarding Crowley’s exit to Brussels by train. Three hours and thirty-two minutes before Crowley’s departure (10:00 a.m., April 17), an earlier Paris–Brussels express collided with a goods train at Hal in Belgium, killing eleven people, seriously injuring fifteen, and wounding thirty-one others. It was perhaps good manners that prevented Paris-Midi journalists from connecting the two events . . . for Black Magic is soon mentioned when speaking of Crowley. 

So, at least, we find on the front page of Le Journal, published 6:00 a.m. Wednesday, April 17, 1929, around the time of the crash. Next to the announcement that “tomorrow all English visitors to France must be vaccinated,” we find a less scientific message:
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Fig. 1.2.  Paris-Midi, Thursday, April 18, 1929; column on right,
MAGIE NOIRE C’EST BIENTÔT DIT EN PARLANT DE CROWLEY!

The high priest

of black magic

will today be

expelled from France

In the Middle Ages, they burnt sorcerers in the Place de Grève. Nowadays they’re content to expel them. This punishment, evidently less grave than times past, does not in the least take away lively protests over Sir Aleister Crowley, whose punishment is about to be applied today.

We’ve paid a call on one who pretends, rightly or wrongly, to be one of the masters of modern Kabbalah.

On the fifth floor of luxury apartments in the avenue de Suffren, a furnished apartment with all the refinements of elegance and most demanding concerns of modern comfort. A bright room. Double curtained windows filter a pale light that emphasizes the geometrical design of a thick Moroccan carpet.
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Fig. 1.3.  Le Journal, Wednesday, April 17, 1929; 
center column, LE GRAND PRÊTRE DE LA MAGIE NOIRE SERA AUJOURD’HUI EXPULSÉ DE FRANCE.

A man is seated at a vast writing desk overloaded with books, his blue eyes, candid and surprised, pierce the lines of one approaching fifty.

—Yes, someone wants to expel me from France—me, French to the heart—who’s lived in Paris for twenty years.

—What have they got against you?

—I don’t quite know. They reproach me vaguely—oh! very vaguely—for spying in America, during the war. In fact, during the period 1914–17 I belonged to England’s Naval Intelligence Service. I’d allied myself to the German counterespionage service, to be better able to perceive close-up, their plans. That’s how I was led to write in an American paper an article unfavorable to France. But I repeat, this was only to gain the confidence of our enemies. I acted with the plain consent of Captain Gaunt, since lord of the Admiralty, then my chief of service direct to Naval Intelligence.

—And that’s all?

—Peuh! All the rest is stories I’ve numerous enemies. They make arrows out of any wood. They accuse me of intimacy with young men. The best proof I can give to counter that is my engagement to Mlle Ferrari de Miramar. . . .

A slight shrug of the shoulders.

—What rot hasn’t been laid at my door? The old popular hatred against those engaged in magic is smeared over their lips. They accuse me of eating little children, of burning women alive. Doesn’t it go as far as treating me as “grand priest of black magic”?

Whilst we make ourselves at home, Sir Aleister chants, with well-measured tones and a light British accent:

—I’ve taken Monsieur Paul-Boncour as my advocate.*5 Make it clear I only ask for one thing: what are the precise accusations made against me. I don’t want toleration, I want a vindication. —S.F.

The late edition of Le Petit Parisien (“the most powerful draw of world news in the world”) ran Crowley’s interview with Yves Dautun (1903–1973) next to a recent headshot of the mage:
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Fig.1.4. Le Petit Parisien, front page, Wednesday April 17, 1929; right column with Crowley headshot, LE MYSTÉRIEUX VISAGE D’ALEISTER CROWLEY QUI VA ÊTRE “REFOULÉ” DE FRANCE.
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Magician? Spy?
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THE MYSTERIOUS FACE OF ALEISTER CROWLEY WHO’S TO BE “TURNED OUT” OF FRANCE

Today they’re going to “turn out” of France a singular personality, Aleister Crowley, of British nationality, who’s reproached for suspect relations with foreign intelligence services, and for surrendering himself to obscure magical practices, barely compatible with modern civilization.

This “turning out” is not an expulsion order, only the withdrawal of identity card, without which a foreigner cannot live in France.

Aleister Crowley received us serenely.

—I don’t like the papers saying I’m a baronet, he declared to us. I have the title of chevalier. Now I permit you to publish that I am duke, marquis, or prince.

This dark personality, would he be pure joker? Here he is sat on his bed, legs crossed under the sheets, chubby and formidable in his precious undress. From a pyjama of champagne silk, the monstrous neck emerges, which supports the strangest imaginable head. The enormous bare front adorned by a lock in the Tartar mode; his eyes, clear blue, go you know not where before focusing on you with a cruel insistence. The voice is fat, with a very pronounced accent.

In the bedroom, a sickroom, a bizarre perfume floats, something unnatural, like an oriental drug.

That for which he is reproached he recounts while defending himself:

—First, I do black masses. Women. I crucify them, and then I eat them. That’s convenient. I am a spy also. Finally, I’ve stolen the towers of Notre-Dame. There!

He laughs. But it doesn’t seem commodious to laugh with him. One rather wishes to hide in a corner. This laugh has something funerary about it. And the grin that accompanies it is no more reassuring.

—Magic? Of course. I believe in it. Magic, that’s all, that’s life. If you’re there, interrogating me, that’s magic. Yes, monsieur. But the black masses, no. To profane a mystery, it’s necessary to believe in the mystery. But I don’t believe in anything. As for women, I don’t eat them. I am besides, very gentle [or kind].

His spying role, finally, he defends vigorously. He was made part of German counterespionage organized by England in America during the war, this certainly; he served his country; he’s nothing to reproach himself for.

—I very much want specificity regarding the accusations. Up to now it’s been a tale from 1001 Nights. It’s all the same to me if I go to prison. They must accuse me formally; then I can justify myself.

In a confident tone, he speaks of a shady businessman who wanted to roll it and who proposed to him an affair “not very proper.”

—Think about it, he wanted me to matchmake a marriage between the Prince Sixtus de Bourbon*6 and a rich American. I wouldn’t act. These kinds of adventures frighten me. I’m a very modest petit bourgeois. I like to stay in my corner, well-fed, and I play chess admirably. That’s the bottom of things.

Paris, I adore. It’s my quartier. I only know the good restaurants, and my chess circle, where I’m respected. I’m not happy to go. Brussels is sad, they say. Still, I must rejoin my secretary, who’s very kind, and my fiancée, who’s from Nicaragua, whom the police have already expedited.

I’m going to get married. And straightaway I’ll demand to return to France to turn on the light. I’ve given Monsieur Paul-Boncour my case. Justice must be done by me.

Shall we soon know the true face of Aleister Crowley?

Appearing the day after Crowley’s departure, Crowley’s “true face” seemed no mystery to “Paris’s only daily socialist paper,” Le Populaire (April 18, 1929):
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Fig. 1.5. Le Populaire, Thursday, April 18, 1929; column center-right
with portrait, UNE ETRANGE FIGURE—ALEISTER CROWLEY MAGE, POETE ET, DIT-ON, 
ESPION—Ce personnage compliqué vient d’être expulsé de France.
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A strange figure
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ALEISTER CROWLEY MAGE, POET AND, SOME SAY, SPY
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This complicated personality comes to be expelled from France
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Strange personality, without any doubt, but to which our sympathy refuses itself without hesitation. This you’ll understand easily when you know what the question of Sir Crowley is about.

French police have “turned out” this less than desirable personality. You’ve probably read they expelled him yesterday morning.

There were good reasons for it. But I understand that we don’t make of it a shining gift to the country where Sir Crowley is intent on and which only he currently knows. Unless he is himself as little aware as ourselves.

Sir Aleister Crowley gives himself the title of English baronet. Of its legitimacy, nothing is less certain.

What’s more certain is that his past is full of mystery. Shaking it a bit, a stack of stories more or less turbulent appear incontinently on the surface of a vessel of depths.

To believe many American papers, Aleister Crowley spied during the war to the profit of Germany. Defending himself, Crowley retorts, not without cynicism, that he served England in the same honorable conditions. Testifying to a unique vanity he flatters himself to the hilt with having been one of the Naval Intelligence Service’s best agents.

Each takes his certificates where he can!
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The Strange Life of Aleister Crowley
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But nothing is lost to his glory. It’s also said he’s allied to a sect of Kabbalists. Multiple and astonishing initiations of sorcery are attributed to him. His name is bound to incredible scenes of black magic.

It seems however that that these facts alone were insufficient for the police to proceed against him the expulsion measure.

Sir Crowley would have brought on himself official attention and hostility for failure to observe the rules of morality.

Sir Crowley was educated. He enjoyed in England a good reputation as a poet. He once frequented divers reputable salons in Paris—so it’s said.

Tall, completely shaven, his nose lost in his face, the look of Aleister Crowley shone with singular flame.

He had, once, founded a luxurious revue of occultism: The Equinox. But, it was too many times taken for a state of impotence, his gifts of sorcery considered a vast joke.

Sir Crowley has therefore been expelled. Bon voyage all the same.

Adjacent to the front-page news that Reichsbank president Dr. Schacht had presented the American “Young memorandum” to the Reich (Paris-Soir, Thursday, April 18, 1929), was a photo taken of a calm, determined Crowley at the Gare du Nord wrapped in a warm overcoat, sporting a homburg:
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Hit by an expulsion order
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THE MAGE CROWLEY HAS LEFT FOR BRUSSELS WHERE HE’LL MARRY
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He will return to Paris to vindicate himself
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It’s done: Aleister Crowley’s been “turned out.” The singular personality accused of magic, and more gravely, of relations with foreign intelligence services, left this morning at ten o’clock for Brussels.
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Fig. 1.6. Paris-Soir, Thursday, April 18, 1929; right column, LE 
MAGE CROWLEY EST PARTI POUR BRUXELLES OÙ IL SE MARIERA Il reviendra à Paris pour se justifier.

We assisted his embarkation in a modest taxi. As several suitcases were slid into the vehicle, Crowley appeared. This man with a huge, round, pale face has already passed the Franco-Belgian border.

In a blue jacket, smoking a long, straight, round pipe, he responds to our questions from one corner of his thin lips to the other:

—I’ve already said everything. I admit all that one wants: magic, theft, espionage, assassination Does that suffice? Before trying to vindicate myself of all that, I’m getting married in Brussels. Yes, I don’t hesitate before another crime!

—Parbleu! Justice will have to defend me.

Whilst the car moves off without the cobbles bursting into flames or clouds enveloping the humble car, the likeable proprietor of the mage’s avenue Suffren apartment gave us her impression:

—An illuminé, perhaps crazy, but a very polite tenant, very correct, very “old France” even though British. Certainly he’s occupied with magic, but though my floorboards were burnt by his incense, I believe these practices do evil to no one. Several months ago, I gave a soirée to which he was invited. That funny man scared my friends when they learnt their worst catastrophes.

—that have come to pass?

—None An inoffensive man, I tell you. Evidently, if they expel him, they’re reproaching him for serious things, but I’m not concerned with politics, I’ve heard nothing of it.

Happy woman!—Morency.

To Crowley’s sorrow, he would never again reside in Paris, perhaps the nearest place to an intellectual and spiritual home he would ever know. As so often after 1914, he simply couldn’t raise the money either for his distinguished advocate in Paris or the “backhanders” required to secure cooperation from people with influence. Furthermore, employees, or former employees, of Britain’s security services never publicly defended any part of his American disinformation campaign. There was too much potential embarrassment and ambiguity in his case for official exposure, and he was, anyway, regarded as too unpredictable and independent to accommodate; his outsider stance invited prejudice and wariness. No terrestrial intelligence service is all-knowing. While Britain’s intelligence services did not echo the frequently mendacious accusations of the gutterpress, Crowley was nevertheless left to deal with the weight of opprobrium by himself. While it was easy to regard him as provocateur of his own misfortunes, newspapers of record never broached the issue in his lifetime.

From the Parisian newspaper reports translated in this chapter, one might be as perplexed as they were in assessing Crowley’s true character, motives, and actions. We should not expect too much from newspaper 
stories cooked up for the late or morning edition. For that we shall need to 
trace Crowley’s long, intimate association with France’s capital. Never before 
attempted, this biographical focus will enable us to see clearly how and why 
Aleister Crowley found himself on the 10:00 a.m. Paris–Brussels train on 
Wednesday, April 17, 1929.
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Fig. 1.7. Crowley, as depicted in Paris-Soir the day after quitting Paris.



TWO
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One Flame 1883–1898

Crowley first glimpsed Paris in 1883 as parents Edward and Emily alighted at the Gare du Nord for a family holiday to France and Switzerland. Seven-year-old “Aleck” (as he was called) was doubtless oblivious to the spiritual dawn kissing the capital’s horizon. Twenty-five-year-old critic Joséphin Péladan (1858–1918) had just declared his life’s mission to spiritualize and idealize French art with a broadside against convention in L’Artiste to which even young Crowley might have assented: “I believe,” announced Péladan, “in the Ideal, in Tradition, in Hierarchy.” At the same time, Péladan’s friend-to-be, Marquis Stanislas de Guaita, published his first poetry book, La Muse Noire (“The Black Muse”) while fellow Symbolist Catulle Mendès introduced de Guaita to the magical works of Éliphas Lévi.*7 Attraction to Lévi and Lévite magus “Mérodack” in Péladan’s hit novel, Le Vice Suprême (1884), would bring de Guaita to Péladan, and both men to the center of that “French Occult Revival” to which fellow Decadent Aleister Crowley would owe so much.

Indeed, it took less than a decade for Crowley’s identification with Éliphas Lévi to lead him to believe Lévi was his former incarnation, attributing his finding parts of Paris weirdly familiar to déjà vu. Crowley also shared much in common with de Guaita, and they might have met had de Guaita not died so tragically young in 1897, a few months after Crowley’s inward poleaxing by what he’d call the “Trance of Sorrow”: a crushing sense of life’s impotence against ultimate futility. De Guaita had long before come to magic through similar nihilistic despair, rebelling, like Crowley, against religious austerity. Fellow poet of the symbol, Crowley would also experiment with hashish, not as decadent appurtenance, but to explore mystical consciousness. Both men became scholars of “the occult.”
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Fig. 2.1. Joséphin Péladan (1858–1918), by Alexandre Seon, Museum of Fine Arts, Lyon.

The year 1888 was one of ignition. Péladan and de Guaita joined forces in the Ordre Rose+Croix+Kabbalistique while Paris’s Hermetic movement of Symbolist-inspired artists, composers, and writers open to magic and mysticism coalesced inside Edmond Bailly’s Librairie de l’Art Indépendant at 11 rue de la Chaussée d’Antin. Further impetus came from Lucien Mauchel and Gérard Encausse’s Librairie du Merveilleux at 29 rue de Trévise, center for the Groupe Indépendant d’Études Ésotériques. Calling himself “Papus” after a late-antique demon (génie) of medicine (he was training to be a doctor), Encausse and enthusiastic associates embraced every aspect of esotericism, from tarot to a revived Martinism. When Jules Doinel’s Gnostic Church was consecrated in 1890 at Lady Caithness’s mansion at 124 avenue de Wagram (Theosophist epicenter), its members met at the back of the Librairie du Merveilleux. The year 1888 also saw the first issue of L’Initiation, Papus’s monthly journal of esoteric commentary,*8 through whose pages in 1890, Péladan announced his demitting from de Guaita’s Rose-Croix Order in favor of his own revived Order of the Catholic Rose Cross, the Temple and the Grail, dedicated to establishing his idealist, spiritual aesthetic in all arts, to save the Latin world, as he saw it, from Germanic barbarity and spiritual decay, or if not to save it, then at least to furnish a spirited last stand before the end. Erik Satie was Order “chapel-master,” composing music for, and inspired by, Péladan’s ideal.†9

Links with Britain came through Freemason and inspirer of the Hermetic Order of the Golden Dawn Kenneth Mackenzie (1833–1886), who interviewed Éliphas Lévi in 1861, and Lady Caithness’s close friend, Anna Kingsford (1846–1888), who inspired Golden Dawn cofounder Samuel Mathers, and whose death in 1888 probably influenced Mathers and Masonic colleagues to build on Mackenzie’s “Brothers of the Light” Order, honoring Kingsford’s dynamic spiritual feminism by opening their Hermetic Order of the Golden Dawn equally to women.
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Fig. 2.2. Papus’s chair, beloved of Parisian Martinists today. The sign reads: “Armchair still occupied by Gérard Encausse—Papus—the morning of his ‘ death’” (October 25, 1916).

By the time Crowley again passed through Paris—en route, aged eighteen, to climbing in the Austrian Tyrol in 1894—the spiritual movement had passed its zenith, though new actors were still emerging. While Crowley’s entrance proper (if we except his former life as Lévi) did not occur until 1899, the magnet that drew him to Paris was already ensconced.


MATHERS IN PARIS

S. L. MacGregor Mathers, as Samuel Liddell Mathers called himself, explored Paris in July 1891, shortly after Papus and Augustin Chaboseau established the Martinist Order Supreme Council. Doubtless perceiving a potential clash of interests, Mathers “recognized” Papus’s Order, on the spurious basis that the Golden Dawn was chief line of Rosicrucian succession with authority to recognize or disregard other Orders. Mathers’s Order, however, owed some core doctrines to Paris. Its amalgam of astrology, Kabbalah, alchemy, Theurgy, Hermetic Egyptianism, Germanic neo-Rosicrucianism with the angel magic of Elizabethan Dr. John Dee and alchemist-seer Edward Kelley was centered around Éliphas Lévi’s identification of the tarot’s twenty-two trump cards with the twenty-two letters of the Hebrew alphabet, a speculation developed further by de Guaita and friends Oswald Wirth and Papus toward an initiatory system entwined about the numerical speculations of the Sefer Yetzirah applied to the sephiroth-bearing “Tree of Life” glyph from the kabbalist Sefer HaBahir (“Book of Illumination, or Brightness”). However, Crowley’s study of the tarot, The Book of Thoth (part 1, I; 1944), asserts that the attributions of the twenty-two tarot trumps in Éliphas Lévi’s Dogma and Ritual of the High Magic (two volumes, 1854; 1856) contained deliberate errors of correspondence; that is to say, the volumes “Dogma” and “Ritual” (meaning Theory and Practice), each arranged in twenty-two chapters, intentionally misaligned chapter numbers to trumps. Crowley believed Lévi did this to conceal the initiated doctrine from the profane. Crowley derived this view from Golden Dawn sources: something today’s Outer Head of Ordo Templi Orientis, William Breeze, clarified for me recently: “The English taught that the French attributions were blinds. But the French went on to build entire systems on their different attributions. The systems are almost non-interoperable as a result.”1

Walking in the Bois de Boulogne in 1891, Mathers allegedly encountered his Order’s “Secret Chiefs,” their presence so “electric” he felt drained of vitality, a description redolent of the recorded invocation of spirits of thirteenth-century Cathars at Lady Caithness’s mansion in 1889 that initiated Doinel’s Gnostic Church.*10 Mathers believed “his” chiefs included a French initiate linked to Scottish royalty. Lady Caithness (1830–1895) believed Mary Queen of Scots to be her guardian angel (her mansion was called Holyrood). Mathers believed he was himself alchemy-patron King James IV of Scotland reincarnated, identifying with the clan MacGregor, whose clan name was forbidden by James VI of Scotland (fearing magic) in 1603.†11 Neo-Jacobite Legitimist Mathers also conspired to place Stuart survivors on Britain’s throne. Note also that Martinists with authority to initiate were called “Supérieurs Inconnus” (S.I.), a title given by eighteenth-century “Strict Observance” Masons to mysterious, even preternatural adepts to God’s will: “unknown superiors” behind manifest Orders.




MINA MATHERS AND ANNIE HORNIMAN

Mathers first discovered Mina Bergson studying Egyptian art at the British Museum in 1887, a year before London’s first G.D. temple was chartered. Born of British and Polish Jewish stock in Geneva in 1865, Mina’s talented family (music and medicine) moved to Paris in 1867, settling in 1873 in London, where in 1880 Mina distinguished herself in drawing at Bloomsbury’s Slade School of Art, on Gower Street. She met lifelong friend Annie Horniman there in 1882. Marrying Mathers in 1890, Mina changed her name to the Celtic Moina (“gentle”) while Mathers curated Annie’s father, Frederick J. Horniman M.P.’s, Forest Hill museum. When Mathers was dismissed, Annie, now a Golden Dawn officer, subvented the couple’s move to Paris in 1892, offering continued support. Now able to see her Paris-based brother, doctor of philosophy Henri Bergson (1859–1941), Moina pursued painting at the Académie Colarossi, 10 rue de la Grande-Chaumière, Montparnasse.
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Fig. 2.3. Mina (also “Moina”) Mathers (1865–1928).

Near the Hôtel des Invalides on January 6, 1894, with Annie Horniman and cofounder William Wynn Westcott assisting, Imperator Mathers consecrated 1 avenue Duquesne (the Mathers’s apartment), Ahathoor Number 7 Temple.

The Golden Dawn’s center moved in early 1895 to 87 avenue Mozart, an attractive villa in sedate Auteuil, close to the Bois de Boulogne. The villa had two other addresses: 43 rue Ribéra, a narrow back street, and 41 rue de la Source, another pleasant residential road. Via back roads, visitors could enter the garden, then the temple: a large hall by a marble staircase serving as dais for adepts and the way to the Mathers’s apartments. Partially blocked by a new structure, the former rue Ribéra back entrance is still visible. The rue de la Source entrance around the corner is gone, modern tenements replacing the villa’s former gardens.

Here, on March 23, 1895, with Moina’s impressive paintings of Egyptian deities looming around him, Papus was ceremonially admitted Neophyte into the Golden Dawn (in French). Years later, Crowley regarded his initiation as life defining. It’s unlikely Papus felt that way about it, declining further initiations in the Outer Order. Perhaps Papus felt he deserved admission straight into the exclusive Second Order, or maybe he was simply curious. Papus’s colleagues at the Librairie du Merveilleux and its adjuncts (including the Gnostic Church) mostly ignored the Golden Dawn.*12 Papus may have been suspicious, especially since he hoped to bring all esoteric bodies under the unifying banner of the Martinist Order, with a Christian emphasis obscured in the G.D.
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Fig. 2.4. Present-day 87 avenue Mozart.
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Fig. 2.5. Present-day 43 rue Ribéra.

A few months later, traveling alone through Paris, Crowley headed for the 2,061-meter Kleine Schiedegg mountain pass in the Bernese Oberland. After a guideless ascent of the Eiger, an urgent cable summoned him back for Cambridge University entrance examinations.

Crowley took up residence at Trinity College in October 1895, entering for the Moral Science Tripos, which by 1870 consisted of moral and political philosophy, mental philosophy (psychology), and logic and political economy. In the event, Crowley balked at the subjects offered, particularly political economy, which, as he joked in Confessions (chapter 12), was said by a professor to be very difficult “because there was no reliable data.”2 Crowley successfully persuaded his understanding tutor, classics scholar (with an interest in “psychic” phenomena) Professor A. W. Verrall, that he preferred to devote his studies to English literature. In fact, Crowley spent his time at Trinity studying pretty much what interested him at any given time, assembling an impressive library in the process. A recommended reading list for his magical Order (the A∴A∴) offers perhaps a hint that his literary studies may have extended to some French literature: Le Comte de Gabalis by Abbé Nicolas-Pierre-Henri de Montfaucon de Villars; The Golden Verses of Pythagoras by Fabre d’Olivet (a Martinist favorite); Balzac’s Le Peau de Chagrin (regarded as magical allegory); and François Rabelais’s Gargantua and Pantagruel, which described an imagined libertarian, chivalrous “Abbey of Thelema” guided by the sole rule: “Do What 
Thou Wilt” ( fay çe que vouldras). In later life Crowley would translate Baudelaire’s Les Fleurs du Mal, which, like a good Decadent, he adored. Apart from Lévi, Crowley also enjoyed J. K. Huysmans’s Symbolist-occult novels Là Bas (1891) and À Rebours (1884).

On October 12, 1896—his twenty-first birthday—Crowley inherited some £45,000. Given his upbringing’s peculiarity, this windfall presaged disastrous results, for as Crowley would repeat frequently after its exhaustion, he’d been raised without any sense that money could be earned or knowledge of how to make it.

Less than two months after acquiring his fortune, a penurious Mathers begged a loan from Golden Dawn member F. L. Gardner:

We have been in terrible monetary anxiety of late, and have immediate and urgent need of £100 (one hundred pounds); could you let me have the sum?

I have no security worth the name to offer you. Of course, there is the furniture here, but it is worth very little, and there are several paintings and drawings of Vestigia’s [Moina Mathers’s Golden Dawn name/motto], most of which have been exhibited, but I know the value of pictures depends almost entirely on circumstances.3

Annie had ended her subvention in September, hence the desperate letter to Gardner. The day before sending it, Mathers wrote to Annie, now Sub-Praemonstratrix of London’s Isis-Urania temple;

In my letter to you in answer to your reply to my manifesto I insisted upon your complete and absolute submission to my authority as regards the management as well as the teaching of both the First and Second Order [of the Golden Dawn].4

In characteristically autocratic response, Mathers removed Annie’s name from the Order rolls. Annie’s offense, in Mathers’s estimation, lay in suppressing Order member Edward Berridge’s support for Thomas Lake Harris’s sexual theories. Berridge circulated a paper that apparently suggested sexual relations with “elemental” spirits. The coincidence of Horniman’s expulsion and her having ceased subventing the Mathers’s life in Paris hardly seems coincidental.

Some weeks later, Crowley’s Confessions informs us, a hankering for mysterious, dark places to the north led to Crowley’s being entertained by “the stuffy old British minister”*13 at ice-cold Stockholm’s British Embassy during his end-of-term Christmas vacation. For many years Crowley’s account of New Year’s Eve 1896 suggested magical or mystical illumination, an intimation of unsuspected magical power. This romanticism obscured Crowley’s willing seduction by Hampshire-born family man, James Lachlan Dickson (1855–1927), cotton salesman of Scottish descent. Despite Dickson’s emotional indifference, the thrill of homosexual sex came as a profound shock to Crowley’s sensorium; he’d never imagined such ecstasy existed.

While the empire got excited over Queen Victoria’s diamond jubilee, Crowley visited St. Petersburg in June 1897 to glean a working knowledge of Russian for an intended diplomatic career. During his return, the diplomatic dream crashed. He claimed nihilistic despair overwhelmed him. For how long would even the finest ambassador be remembered?

The Confessions offers as trigger the sight of “non-entities” gathered for a Berlin chess tournament suddenly looking distant, absurd, tawdry, vacant of meaning—despite youthful dreams of chess mastery. Another account has him waking from a dental operation, experiencing a world of pure pain, before anesthetic took hold: two parables perhaps obscuring an unknown third story.

Crowley made an interesting leap. He now sought a material that did not rot, decay, or fade. The stuff of the world could only ever be instrument, tool, weapon, salve, or mirror of the soul. This realization, he asserted, drove him to embrace a philosophy of spiritual causation.

Returning to Cambridge, Crowley says he fell ill. By Michaelmas term’s end 1897, God and the Devil, as he put it, fought for his soul. God won; “but,” he added, “which of the twain was God?”†14 This suggests something of a nervous breakdown.

Nevertheless, some rather effective poetry (“Astray in Her Paths”), written January 8, 1897, at Copenhagen, Denmark, nearly six months before his trip to St. Petersburg shortly after the Dickson experience, suggests that alienation from the world in favor of spiritual sublimity was already intensified—after Stockholm:

. . . because we love,

Are not of earth, but, as the immortals, stand

With eyes immutable; our souls are fed

On a strange new nepenthe from the cup

Of the vast firmament. Nor do we dream,

Nor think we aught of the transient world,

But are absorbed in our own deity.

But now I turn to thee, whose eyes

Blaze on me with such look as flesh and blood

May never see and live; for so it burns

Into the inmost being of the spirit

And stains its vital essence with a brand

Of fire that shall not change; and shuddering

I Gaze back, spirit to spirit, with the like

Insatiable desire, that never quenched,

Nor lessened by sublime satiety,

But rather crescent, hotter with the flame

Of its own burning, that consumes it not,

Because it is the pure white flame of God.

I shudder, holding thee to me; thy gaze

Is still on me; a thousand years have passed,

And yet a thousand thousand; years they are

As men count years, and yet we stand and gaze

With touching hands and lips immutable

As mortals stand a moment. . . .

The universe is One: One Soul, One Spirit,

One Flame, One infinite God, One infinite Love.*15
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Fig. 2.6. Herbert Charles Pollitt (1871–1942), by Frederick Henry Evans.

While sexual bliss and material-transcendence are clearly combined in the poem, his relations with another man between October 1897 and his final term at Trinity College in 1898 would make him definitively choose the latter at the expense of the former.

Cambridge University theatrical star Herbert Charles Pollitt (1871–1942), four years Crowley’s senior and star of E. F. Benson’s novel The Babe, B.A., had returned to the Cambridge Footlights Revue to perform his famous drag act as “Diane de Rougy,” a skit on Parisian bisexual courtesan Liane de Pougy, decadent star of the Folies Bergère and darling-to-be of lesbian poet Natalie Clifford Barney. Lightweight, casually artistic Pollitt was doubtless a tonic for Crowley’s spiritual crisis, a kind of curious mirror of his anxieties. Pollitt introduced Crowley to Decadent literature and the art of Aubrey Beardsley (who designed a bookplate for Pollitt), James McNeill Whistler, and devilish Belgian Félicien Rops, illustrator of Péladan’s novels. These influences informed Crowley’s visual aesthetic sense, pre-accommodating him to aspects of Parisian art and attitudes. Pollitt also knew Beardsley’s publisher Leonard Smithers, canny purveyor of erotica and risqué poetry, including Oscar Wilde, Ernest Dowson, and Crowley’s Aceldama.

By Michaelmas term’s end, Crowley, in love with Pollitt, went alone to Amsterdam to explore his soul.*16 Writing fevered letters to Pollitt, he composed poetry of his physical and mixed metaphysical love yearnings. On Christmas Day came The Nativity, in which he imagined Jesus’s mother cursing God from the pain of childbirth until, much relieved, she was delivered of “the Christ.” Crowley kissed his silver crucifix, as though in farewell, choosing for himself another testing destiny of fire and ice, as his boots crunched frosty cobbles by the freezing docks of old Amsterdam.

Back in England before New Year, Crowley booked himself, for some reason, into the Queen’s Hotel, Stephenson Street, Birmingham (one of many grand victims of postwar demolition). Pollitt arrived. They dined, talked, and retired. Pollitt then entered Crowley’s room and seduced him, precisely one year after “initiation” with Dickson in 
Stockholm.

Returning to Cambridge, Crowley lived as wife to Pollitt: the “purest” love relationship he’d known. Nevertheless, apart from sex, Decadent art, and pleasure in entertaining, the relationship lacked empathy either for Crowley’s mountaineering or spiritual world-transcendence. While committed, like many Symbolists in Paris, to a kind of spiritual androgyny, Crowley was also sensitive to general presumptions that homosexuality entailed degenerate effeminacy.
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Fig. 2.7. Queen’s Hotel, Stephenson Street, Birmingham.

At Easter, Pollitt joined Crowley and climber Oscar Eckenstein at a Wasdale hotel in the Lake District. The contrast was stark. Pollitt could hardly blend in. Crowley was reading von Eckartshausen’s Cloud upon the Sanctuary (1804), recommended by Golden Dawn member A. E. Waite, to whom Crowley had written for advice. Eckartshausen’s account of a body of saints directing human destiny through chosen adepts made sense to Crowley, but not to Pollitt. Crowley intuited an end to the affair.

The poet booked a room at the Bear Hotel, Maidenhead, Berkshire, during his final term to concentrate on writing Jezebel. Seeking solitude with his muse, he confided his whereabouts to one: perhaps new friend old Etonian Gerald Festus Kelly (1879–1972)—about to complete his first year at Trinity Hall. Pollitt appeared. Incensed by interruption, Crowley angrily informed Pollitt that he intended to devote himself to religion, not him.

At the summer term’s end, Crowley repented, whereupon, according to Not the Life and Adventures of Sir Roger Bloxam*17 (chapter 29, in which Pollitt is the much loved “Hippolytus”), he posted an ameliorative letter from the Gare de Lyon, Paris, en route to Zermatt, Switzerland: “Did I say ‘Always’?” he wrote. Perhaps the letter went astray, or “did he [Pollitt] interpret it amiss?” Later on, oblivious, Crowley passed Pollitt in London’s Bond Street. Believing himself cut, Pollitt took it as final. Crowley would twice return to Maidenhead; first, in 1909 when approaching divorce from first wife, Rose, and second, during World War II after a near-death experience in Torquay.
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Fig. 2.8. The Bear Hotel (on right), High Street, Maidenhead.

It wasn’t just sex, after all. Crowley had known love.





THREE
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The Road to Auteuil 1898–1900

Crowley’s Swiss mountaineering in summer 1898 marked both end and new beginning. At Wasdale at Easter, he’d issued a spiritual call to the Secret Chiefs for guidance. At Zermatt’s Hotel Mont Rose in June, guidance came. Crowley was spouting about alchemy over evening drinks when chemist Julian Levett Baker (1873–1958) introduced himself. Realizing Baker’s superior knowledge, Crowley glimpsed the path he sought. Baker, it transpired, had experimented with alchemical recipes when he was chief chemist for the Sugar Association. Like his friend George Cecil Jones (also a chemist), Baker was a member of the Hermetic Order of the Golden Dawn. In due course Baker and Jones suggested Crowley’s joining the Order might resolve his spiritual quest.

By November, Crowley was experimenting with astral travel with Jones in Basingstoke and, on Monday, November 14, with Julian Baker at the Hotel Cecil on London’s Strand, close to Crowley’s lawyers, Todd, Dennes & Lamb, at 22 Chancery Lane. Four days later, at the Mark Masons’ headquarters, a mile west on St. James’s Street, Crowley was initiated Neophyte into the Golden Dawn’s Outer Order.

Seeking to accommodate his magical experiments, Crowley’s lawyer, Mr. Dennes, recommended a rental advantageous to a nearby business client. That’s how Crowley moved into upper rooms at 67 and 69 Chancery Lane, close to one of London’s busiest thoroughfares, the Strand! Despite the noise, Crowley contrived two experimental temples, one for evocation (lower spirits, demons), and one for invocation (higher beings, angels). In the meantime, he’d become acquainted with Mrs. Lilian Horniblow (née Horsham), whose husband, Lieutenant Colonel (later Brigadier General) Frank Horniblow of the Royal Engineers, served in India. Confessions calls the colonel’s wife a “seductive siren.” She knew an eligible argonaut when she saw one.

In Crowley’s manuscript “Notes of [Astral] Travel 1898–1899” we read that at the temple, Chancery Lane, 10–11:00 p.m. December 31, 1898, Crowley performed a ceremony “to exorcise my Qliphoth,” described as “black and deformed.”1Qliphoth in Kabbalah means “shells” or “husks”; that is, cast-offs: bad or misleading waste products emitted in process of creation, believed to cling to the human aura. Such, it was believed, caused “obsessions.” Crowley performed the “Lesser Banishing Ritual”—required learning for the grade of Zelator he’d taken that month—to clear the temple of unclean spirits. He then occupied his magic circle. The document refers to “L.G.,” almost certainly Laura Grahame, Mrs. Horniblow’s name for assignations. Crowley asked for “the spirit governing their relations.” In a diary entry from the 1920s, Crowley noted this lady’s preference for anal sex, but I cannot say what spirit governs that.

Having taken the Theoricus grade in February 1899, Crowley had to wait three months before proceeding to the final grade of the Outer or “First” Order: Philosophus 4° = 7☐ This he duly took in May. Shortly afterward, Crowley went to Paris, meeting Mathers in Auteuil for the first time. Introduction probably came through Crowley’s new friend, poverty-stricken electrical genius Allan Bennett. Mathers was Bennett’s adoptive father;*18 hence, despite sometimes uneasy relations between them, Bennett called himself Allan MacGregor. Invited to live with Crowley at Chancery Lane, Bennett passed on all he’d learned of magic.

The immediate circumstances necessitating the visit to Paris involved an intermediary grade between the Outer and Inner Order: the Portal grade, a “completing” of the elemental grades, requiring a symbolic ritual of the four elements, a testing of the secrets of the Philosophus grade, delivery of the Portal’s meaning, and the swearing of an oath. It made sense to make the oath before Mathers himself, since a minimum of seven months had to pass before admission to the Second Order of the Ruby Rose and Cross of Gold via the Adeptus Minor grade. Admission required invitation. Doubtless aware Crowley was supporting Allan, Mathers probably saw advantages for himself in assisting Crowley.

There were other issues. Crowley may have come to Mathers through Legitimism, rather than through Bennett. Confessions recounts Crowley’s involvement with Lord Ashburnham’s Legitimist plot to arm an uprising to put pretender Don Carlos de Borbón on the Spanish throne. Crowley claimed a knighthood (including a night’s lonely vigil) from one of Don Carlos’s lieutenants while learning marksmanship, tactics, and strategy. Ashburnham did have a training area reserved on his Welsh estates.*19 Crowley knew members of the so-called Thames Valley Legitimist Club, with its explicit Jacobite sympathies. Mathers’s involvement soon alarmed Annie Horniman’s sympathizers in London’s Second Order. Anyhow, Crowley’s active Legitimist enthusiasm must have been brief indeed, since by Crowley’s own admission, the capture of Ashburnham’s Spain-bound steam yacht Firefly at Arachon by alerted French customs authorities in July 1899, and their discovery of its cargo of German rifles, quashed the plot. Crowley said mysteriously in his Confessions that he could not “yet” tell the full story, but given the timescale, there may not have been all that much more to tell.

When, in 1949, Crowley’s younger Cambridge friend Gerald Kelly (knighted 1945), read the Confessions account of Crowley as rifle-toting knight, he attributed it to Crowley’s imagination. Kelly was familiar with Crowley during this period; they’d met during Crowley’s last term. Crowley was not, as was once suggested, on Ashburnham’s fated steam yacht.†20 He was climbing at Beachy Head at the time.‡21

Of the services Crowley did perform for Mathers, none were political. When not in the temple or in the Bois de Boulogne, Mathers walked miles across Paris to the Bibliothèque de l’Arsénal where, seeking long-unpublished magical texts, he found a version of the “Sacred Magic of Abra-Melin the Mage,” probably composed in Germany in the early seventeenth century, purporting to be fifteenth century in origin. Translating it (Moina executed a fine drawing for its title page), Mathers sought income from publishing. In a letter of October 28, 1899 (more than two months before Crowley joined the Second Order), we find the following chit signed by Mathers:

I the undersigned do hereby Authorise my Friend the Count Vladimir Svareff to act as my Representative in all matters relating to the Copyright of my book called the “Sacred Magic of Abra-melin.”2

“Count Vladimir Svareff” was Crowley’s disguise, chosen to avoid potential family interference as suggested by Abra-Melin’s “Sacred Magic,” whose aim might provide a shortcut to the crown of Golden Dawn aspiration: the Higher Genius. While Crowley contemplated Abra-Melin’s promise of “knowledge and conversation with the Holy Guardian Angel,” Mathers collaborated with Martinist (S.I.) and Golden Dawn initiate Jules Bois (1868–1943). Avid supporter of Paris’s 1896 feminist congress, Bois recognized Samuel and Moina’s usefulness to his own spiritualized feminist agenda.

In the year Bois lost a duel with Stanislas de Guaita at the Tour Villebon near Fontainebleau, he’d published The Little Religions of Paris (1894). Describing Paris’s Cult of Isis, Bois cited Lady Caithness as devotee because of her claim to have manifested the feminine divine Sophia of Alexandrian gnosis and Antoine de la Rochefoucauld due to his inspired painting—La Rochefoucauld underwrote Péladan’s first Rose-Croix (Art) Salon of 1892 and supported the Nabi artist “prophets.” For Bois, Isis constellated a spiritual project to relate political equality to eternity. In 1893 he’d commissioned composer Erik Satie for an analogous theatrical mission, La Porte héroïque du ciel. Samuel and Moina undertook an Isis cult revival, with themselves as high priests Rameses and Anari, replete with striking costumes, poetic ritual, and polytheist rationale.

Launched in the avenue Mozart, Bois suggested the rites move to the Théâtre de la Bodinière (the Théâtre d’Art International), 18 rue St. Lazare on the Montmartre butte, where he’d been busy in the 1898/99 season with a Buddhist religious ceremony and lecture. Reticent to perform publicly, Moina was reassured by a dream wherein Isis requested Moina revive her worship in the city.*22

Crowley would later write to Gerald Kelly of witnessing the Mathers perform Isis rituals “semi-publicly” at La Bodinière—semi-publicly because in addition to theatrical student performances and those of distinguished performers, founder Charles Bodinier provided for educational lectures at the theater. Robert de Montesquiou, for example, lectured there January 17, 1894, assisted by Sarah Bernhardt. In January 1900, L’Écho de Paris advertised the Mathers’s events only as “Conférences,” which is what made them semi-public. Invitations were probably required, or at least educational interest. After the Mathers’s talk and Isiac performance, theater lovers could see L’Huissier des Traditions (“The Usher of Traditions”), and the popular shadow show, La Marche au Soleil (“March to the Sun”), based on Léon Durocher’s poem, with music by Georges Fragerolle.
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Fig. 3.1. Poster for the “March to the Sun” shadow show at La Bodinière, 1900.
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Fig. 3.2. Moina Mathers as Anari, priestess of Isis; La Bodinière, 1900.

Crowley’s first sight of the performances may have occurred during another visit to Paris Alpine mountaineering with Eckenstein after summer 1899. Confessions refers to a Parisian visit to mollify “Laura Grahame,” their having parted some time in 1899 on account of Abra-Melin’s requiring “chastity.”

Meanwhile, aware that Allan Bennett’s asthma—exacerbated by London’s sooty air—could prove fatal, and mindful of Bennett’s wish to go East to ease the condition while studying raja yoga and Buddhism (abandoning magic), Crowley and George Cecil Jones performed an evocation of Buer, a demon adept in healing. Amid the incense the magicians discerned part of a leg and a helmeted head, and to that partial vision Crowley attributed a helpful dénouement.

Unable to surrender Crowley, Mrs. Horniblow pleaded he visit her at her hotel (possibly the Cecil). There, Laura promised anything he wanted if he’d take her back. Taking this offer, apparently, as inspired by Buer’s semimanifested spirit, mischievous Crowley said her selfishness could be overcome by altruism serving a universal benefit. If agreeable, she could give him one hundred pounds, not for himself, but for another; he had reasons for not using his own money (which reasons are not obvious). She should expect nothing in return, nor hope of it. “Laura Grahame,” at least, agreed, her generosity paying for Allan’s ticket to India, resulting, eventually, in the first Buddhist sangha’s attempt to evangelize Britain.*23 Thank Mrs. Horniblow; thank the tremors of adultery!
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Fig. 3.3. Allan Bennett “Ananda Metteya” (seated center), with fellow councillors of the International Buddhist Society (Buddhasasana Samagama); a photo taken for Bennett’s pioneering journal, Buddhism, published in Rangoon, 1904.

“Laura” visited Crowley again. While promising not to distract his Abra-Melin magic, would he at least give her something as a “living memory of our love”? This implies a baby. Her plea, Crowley related, made him reconsider. Somewhat ludicrously, Crowley pondered the question: Was he not selfish for putting his “spiritual welfare above her happiness”? Deciding on a reciprocally generous gesture, he says he took her to Paris. Later in Crowley’s narrative, we find the following:

The lady previously mentioned was now made happy as a result of the fortnight we had spent together in Paris. I therefore thought it my duty to take care of her until the following spring. The fulfilment of her hopes [pregnancy?] would end my responsibility before the beginning of my Operation. [He planned to start the main Abra-Melin operation at Easter 1900.]3

When, on November 17, 1899, Mary Rose Burton of Boleskine House, Loch Ness, Foyers, received £2,300 for a property worth half that, the purchaser was identified as Aleister MacGregor of 87 “Rue Mozart,” Paris: suggestive of some degree of identification with Mathers. Long after falling out definitively, Crowley still praised Mathers for inspiring confidence by his never doubting himself—an expression perhaps of Crowley’s paradoxically sarcastic overstatement. Mathers’s authoritarianism would soon lose him the confidence of most of the Golden Dawn. I suspect a father-figure projection kept Crowley, temporarily, loyal, but in the end, according to the Oedipus complex, he would have to destroy him, or the Secret Chiefs would, or Mathers would accomplish it himself.

From around this time emerges an undated letter from Boleskine to Gerald Kelly, still at Trinity Hall but now co-opted into the Golden Dawn as Frater Eritis Similis Deo. Crowley advised Kelly to contact Mrs. Rosher (wife of member Charles Rosher) of Helvain Road, Wealdstone, for a robe and nemyss, while a Masonic Rose-Croix sword from Kenning’s shop, Great Queen Street (opposite Grand Lodge, London), would do. “Or,” Crowley suggests, “we might trot over to Paris for a few days or weeks. I have to go there anyway, and would like you to meet the Chief; the Gregarach [Clan MacGregor], the Imperator of Isis-Urania and his wife [Moina] whose painting makes you wild. Adieu! The Gods watch over you! Until we meet. Yrs f[raterna]lly ”4

As Crowley prepared Boleskine in early December for the Abra-Melin experience, putting himself, as he put it in his Magicall Diarie on December 3, “in harmony with the movement of the Reign of Light,” he felt it valuable to have on hand an adept in case things got out of hand. Abra-Melin demons apparently came without evocation, and he feared “obsession” if left alone. Charles Rosher came up initially but disappeared without explanation one morning, so Crowley asked William Evans Hugh Humphrys (1876–1950), described in Confessions as “an old Cambridge acquaintance,” as professional houseguest. From a well-heeled family, Downing College science graduate Humphrys was initiated Golden Dawn Neophyte, November 21, 1899, some five months after graduation.*24

While Mr. and Mrs. Mathers performed Isiac rites in Paris, preparing for the great “Universal Exhibition” to be opened in April 1900, ructions stirred Golden Dawn adepts, including Crowley’s opponent, poet W. B. Yeats, aimed at checking Mathers’s—and Crowley’s—progress. Crowley’s expectation of invitation into the Second Order was dismissed, despite the chief ’s having invited him. Laura had warned Crowley in November of a danger from the police. Claiming it came from “the Astral” (plane), it came supported by an anonymous, terrestrial letter insisting her lover “was about to be in trouble” and was to be avoided. According to A Magicall Diarie 1899,5 Laura was probably at Boleskine on December 12 when Humphrys served as Crowley’s assistant in a magical ceremony to “obsess Gardner”; that is, Frederick Leigh Gardner (1857–1930), who had lent Mathers money in 1896 and never got it back, and with whom Crowley (as Svareff), representing Mathers, had exchanged bellicose letters in October. Gardner, Crowley was convinced, was party to the mudslinging. As to the operation, the diary reveals: “LG [Laura Grahame] sees the success of the op.” She may not necessarily have been at Boleskine; she may have observed its effect on Gardner or experienced some “astral” intuition of its success. To be “obsessed” in this context means to be unwillingly affected in mind by another agency. Showing symptoms of “panic fear,” a nervous Humphrys made his excuses and left.

[image: image]

Fig. 3.4.  Samuel Liddell Mathers (1854–1918), oil painting by Moina Mathers, ca. 1895. Courtesy of the Atlantis Bookshop, London

When Crowley alerted Mathers to Second Order members revolting against their leader in Paris, Mathers invited him for initiation as Adeptus Minor (5° = 6☐) in the Second Order Rosae Rubeae et Aureae Crucis (Rose of Ruby and Cross of Gold). Leaving Laura at Boleskine (!), Crowley traveled to Paris by night boat on January 15, 1900. After eight days in Paris, during which he (again?) saw the Isis rituals performed, Crowley was symbolically bound to the “cross of suffering” at 87 avenue Mozart according to G.D.’s interpretation of primary Fraternity R.C. document the Fama Fraternitatis (first published in Kassel, Germany, 1614): “We are born of God, we die in Jesus, we live again through the Holy Spirit.”

Entitled to the grade documents, Crowley suspected Yeats and his Inner Order friends in London would refuse. Mathers insisted that Crowley demand the grade documents, then advised Crowley to avoid London and keep an intended Cambridge visit short; the stars were unpropitious. As Crowley left the Gare du Nord, L’Initiation carried an announcement from Papus that the Martinist Order was preparing a special lodge to offer spiritual insight to visitors to Paris in honor of the forthcoming Universal Exhibition. Leading Martinist, poet Victor-Émile Michelet would give a talk on the Esoteric in Art.

Mathers should perhaps have watched his own stars more closely, for he was about to be deceived within a net he’d partially woven himself. In February 1900, a couple from America calling themselves Mr. and Mrs. Horos arrived in Auteuil promising to help establish the Isis cult, which they’d heard about in America, even offering to fund a regular temple: irresistible to cash-strapped Mathers. Mrs. Horos then confided to her credulous prey that she was the adept from the fraternity of Nuremberg Rosicrucians who’d fostered authority for the Golden Dawn in the first place! She knew all and could teach him. Mathers was completely taken in by the con artists who’d done their homework and knew how to inflate further the vanity of an ego like his. Or was it promise of funds that netted him?

As fate had it, their arrival coincided with correspondence from Mrs. Emery (actress Florence Farr), who, as Annie Horniman’s replacement, was trying bravely to maintain harmony among overstimulated London members. Here was Mathers’s moment!—or so he thought. He wrote to Mrs. Emery that the Second Order had no alternative to accepting his authority since he was in personal contact with the enterprise’s source of authority (Mrs Horos!), who validated his position wholly. He then lobbed the bombshell: cofounder William Westcott knew alleged correspondence with Anna Sprengel (the name given to the Nuremberg adept) had been forged. What Mathers thought he was doing by this devastating revelation was to show all concerned that he was the sole reliable authority—the vital link with the Secret Chiefs and thus with the real essence and future of the Order. What Mathers achieved, however, was to sow every kind of doubt that the Order possessed any trustworthy authority at all. Instead of showing there was no alternative to his authority, he presented doubters with little alternative but to oppose him.

Meanwhile, Crowley returned to Boleskine ten days after leaving to find, as Confessions puts it, “that my protégée [Laura] had also taken fright, fled to London and hidden herself.” The pressure mounted as Crowley tried to persist with Abra-Melin preparations amid a sense of encroaching spiritual darkness attributed to the operation. He must, he prayed, be strong, despite having heard from girlfriend Evelyn Hall in London that the police had been watching Chancery Lane, and he was suspected of something illegal connected with a Cambridge friend. Gardner had been busy, and finding Laura Grahame through Humphrys (who appears to have fancied the lady himself), persuaded her to go to the police over the matter of money Crowley allegedly extracted. Concerned her husband might find out, Mrs. Horniblow didn’t press charges.

In March, a committee of London’s Second Order resolved on secession from Paris. On April 2, Mathers declared their resolutions void and looked to Crowley to assert authority. Proud of the chief’s summons, Crowley made the momentous decision of leaving Abra-Melin aside to offer his fortunes to a cause he identified with the supernal Order.

In London on Monday, April 9, Crowley ascertained the loyalty of girlfriend Elaine Simpson (Soror Fidelis). She was loyal, despite (or perhaps because of) her mother’s suspicions of Crowley astrally visiting her daughter’s boudoir. Crowley took the overnight ferry to France.

That day, Paul Ulrich Villard presented a paper to Paris’s Academy of Sciences describing gamma ray penetration for the first time: a subject interesting to Crowley, for whom invisible forces always held mystery’s key. Had he read of it, one can imagine him wanting to identify with a gamma ray, an invisible force to penetrate a shield.

Meeting Mathers and Vestigia, a long discussion ensued. One, at least, of Crowley’s proposals was accepted: members should wear masks to reduce interpersonal conflicts and foster essential business (a somewhat literal and impractical notion). Committed heavily to the Isis project, Mathers was content to use Crowley as shield and sword, literally if necessary, for Mathers suspected Mr. and Mrs. Horos of fomenting trouble, having, he alleged, stolen Order documents useful to a takeover. Crowley left Paris as Envoy Plenipotentiary at 11:50 a.m. on Friday, April 13, 1900—the day before President Émile Loubet officially opened Paris’s Universal Exhibition, an event whose clamor forced sculptor Rodin to move beyond the city.

Events crowded in. Unwilling to buckle and play Gulliver to Lilliputian cords, twenty-four-year-old Crowley engaged a “chucker-out” from a Leicester Square pub to effect, in Mathers’s name, reappropriation of Order premises in Blythe Road, Hammersmith, where a wooden reproduction of Christian Rosenkreuz’s tomb was installed for ceremonies. A scuffle over locks and keys occurred; a policeman arrived, and the whole silly business wound up in an abortive legal case. Crowley had worn MacGregor tartan, dagger, and face mask for the occasion, ready to resist and slay dark forces, achieving naught for either cause or reputation.

A previously unpublished note to Gerald Kelly survives, postmarked April 18, 1900, sent from the Savoy Hotel, Embankment Gardens, London. It adds perspective to the unfolding cartoon:

Die 
[image: image] [Monday]

Dear Kelly . . .

There’s a bloody row. I’m in town with the Laura [Grahame] for 
some time. Make an appointment &amp; keep it you bugger! Am v[ery]. drunk

Y[ou]rs truly 
Chateau Yquem6

Here is another card to Kelly, written a few weeks later with letterhead “Hotel Cecil, The Strand” crossed out and replaced by “c/o. T.D.L. [Todd, Dennes, and Lamb, solicitors] 22 Chancery Lane”:

Dear G[erald],

Have assayed with Eckenstein after all to go to Wales [mountaineering]. Return May 4–10 for NibelungenRing [Wagner’s Ring cycle] at C.G. [Covent Garden] & then Paris. Explain my delay to the Caruso. Ever A.C.7

I imagine “the Caruso” (opera singer Enrico Caruso was flush with success in the Florence Opera at the time) refers to New York opera singer Lucile Hill,*25 who understudied soprano Susan Strong in Tannhäuser at Covent Garden Opera House in May 1900. Lucile’s glamour had smitten Crowley in Paris at one of the Mathers’s semipublic performances. They enjoyed an affair, and in May, in London, Crowley arranged conferral of a Golden Dawn grade upon her with seven hard-to-assemble, nonre-bellious Golden Dawn officers, including Gerald Kelly. As Crowley intimated she was a member of the Order when he’d met her in Paris with the Matherses, it may be the grade conferred was Zelator, even though he describes her in a letter to Kelly as “our 0º = 0☐” (Neophyte). Crowley, incidentally, planned to arrive at Covent Garden in his motor car, having driven from Cambridge—a marvelous sight in 1900!

Returning to Paris in early summer to report on the Isis-Urania Temple rebellion, Crowley realized there was nothing more to do. Confessions recounts his hearing some Order members at the Mathers’s house discussing a recent sojourn in Mexico. The picture painted to his highly suggestible imagination of a largely untamed, volcanic, and very sunny country conjured a spontaneous resolve to go. He swung Eckenstein into joining him later to pocket some world records in mountaineering.

It was now July 4, 1900. Aboard a steamship to New York, thoughts of America’s Independence Day inspired a prophetic poem, Carmen Saeculare, about the destinies of the world’s great nations and dedicated to Moina, priestess to Isis, Queen of Heaven. The Mathers’s Isiac rites in Paris had clearly impressed him, because six months later, his January–April 1901 Mexican diary begins: “In Nomine Dei [Hebrew letters Aleph Mem Nun = AMN], Inspiret Naturae Regina Isis”*26: “In the Name of God AMN, Queen Isis inspires of Nature.”8
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